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This is a three-story reinforced concrete building with basement. It is 
built in a rectangular plan and is designed in a utilitarian manner with 
an eclectic array of decorative elements. The design of the facade is 
divided into three major components. The lower level consists of an 
arched central entrance and an offset doorway. The second level is 
separated from the first by a decorative terra cotta band and, consists 
of three flat window openings. The third level consists of a slant bay 
window and a slant roof with decorative red tile. The window bay rests 
upon two large brackets of an identical design. The design imparts a 
sense of verticality unusual for a building of this size. The heavy, 
almost opulent, ornamentation combines, however, with the building's 
narrow verticality to provide the impression of a restrained elegance.

Architectural details of the facade consist of Italian marble at the 
lower level and architectural terra cotta trimmed with stone on the 
upper two levels. Additional details include skylights, mission tile, 
tile facing and terra cotta decoration, plate glass, copper conductors, 
copper drainpipes and sheathing, lamps flanking the arched entrance, a 
coffered ceiling in the central archway, and marble lettering with 
carved work.

The rear elevation of the building is unusual in that it has also received 
some attention to architectural detail. This detail consists of a 
bracketed tile roof/cornice, three arched third story windows, three 
flat second story windows, and a low flat centrally located entrance.

Alterations to the exterior consist of the minor modification of one 
doorway and the addition of a flagpole. These alterations do not alter 
the architectural integrity of the structure.

The interior of the structure consists of four levels, 
designed as a storage and equipment area. Several pieces of the original 
equipment remain, including a steam heating unit. The first floor 
originally housed ten horse stalls and provided an area for the fire 
trucks, lockers, an annunciator, and a hose tower. The area was finished 
in vitrified brick, white tile, and oak trim. The second story contains 
an assembly room, dormitory, lockers, toilets, a bath, and trunk room. 
It had a cement floor, oak trim, a tile wainscot, plaster and burlap 
walls, and was finished with white oak trim. The third story was 
originally an area for the chief and his assistants. It contained a 
reception room, chief's room and chambers, a large bath area, and a 
dining room. The third floor was finished with oak flooring, Peruvian 
mahogany trim, leatherette wall covering, ornamental stucco ceiling 
panels, a large fireplace with French mirror, and a bathroom finished 
in marble.

The building was equipped with two automatic elevators, a system of 
sliding poles, and a dumbwaiter. Alterations to the interior of the
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structure are minimal. The majority of the decorative features are 
intact and much of the original equipment and fixtures remain.

The building is located in an area of primarily early twentieth century 
structures. A modern police station is located across the street from 
the fire station and there is some modern infill. The area is 
characterized, however, by c. 1910-1920 hotels, rooming houses, and 
commercial buildings in fair to deteriorated condition.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Such significant factors as unique architectural design, elaborateness of 
materials used, and historical impact on the Los Angeles community as 
attested to by no less than 30 newspaper articles, have combined to 
support the claim that Old Fire Station No. 23 was the most elaborate, 
unique fire station in the city built at the turn of the century.

Dedicated at 225 East Fifth Street on October 10, 1910, at a cost of 
$57,000, Fire Station No. 23 was designed by architects Hudson and 
Munsell, who also designed the California Museum of Science and Industry 
(see biographical note at end of "Significance" section). Not only is 
the Station one of the oldest fire stations in the City (the last to be 
used for horse-drawn apparatus), but it is also the City's first station 
built of reinforced concrete and the first station three stories high. 
The third floor was used as the Department r s Headquarters for about 10 
years, and was also used as living quarters for the Chief Engineer and 
his family until 1928. The elaborate detail of mahogany paneling and 
trim, imported Italian tile, and numerous other unique, luxurious 
features, all in a remarkable state of preservation, have prompted Ms. 
Rebecca Zurier, after a seven-month tour of 250 or more old fire stations 
throughout the United States for the Library of Congress, to conclude 
that no other fire station in the country could match the interior of 
Old Fire Station No. 23.

Beginning in March, 1909, local press coverage appeared, describing plans 
and specification preparation taking place for Fire Station No. 23. Even 
then it was touted as, ". . . one of the finest engine houses in the 
country." This was the beginning of numerous articles that appeared 
in 1909 and 1910 during the construction of Fire Station No. 23. On 
May 13, 1909, articles appeared reporting that the architectural plans 
submitted by architects Hudson and Munsell were approved by the Board 
of Public Works. As more information became available, articles in late 
May provided more detailed description of the plans for the Station, 
including the oak flooring and mahogany trim. A picture representation 
finally Was displayed on June 13, 1909, with the caption, "To be 
handsomest fire house in West." This article, in addition to identifying 
the fire protection need which this Station would answer for the 
growing wholesale and industrial districts, also underscored the effect 
that this Station would have as a model for future fire stations.

A shift in news coverage occurred on June 24, 1909, when the F.O. 
Engstrum Company was awarded the contract for building the Fire Station.

See Continuation Sheet
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Since construction of public buildings made of reinforced concrete was 
a new endeavor, one of the Fire Commissioners requested that a special 
inspector be available to ensure that the proper proportions of cement 
called for in the specifications be used. On June 29, 1909, it was 
reported that funds for the new Station were never appropriated for 
the Fire Station destined to be ". . . the finest fire house in the 
West and an example of reinforced concrete architecture." This dilemma 
was corrected in a July 3, 1909, article announcing the awarding of the 
contract to the F.O. Engstrum Company after the Fire Commission had 
received its appropriation in the new budget for the Station.

No more is heard of the Fire Station in the news media until mid-December 
when charges appeared in the newspapers by City Auditor Mushet that the 
F.O. Engstrum Company should not receive partial payment for cement work 
done since the contractor had not complied with the specifications for 
concrete mixture. The specifications required one part cement, two parts 
sand, and three parts rock. F.O. Engstrum and the City Building 
Inspector assigned to the project argued that the monolithic character 
of the building was at stake since some of the gravel used contained a 
larger percentage of rocks, which increased the probability of voids not 
being filled by the gravel. A special City Council committee, appointed 
to look into the matter, actually spent an all-day session on this matter 
hearing reports from several architects, inspectors, and the contractor. 
The Building Inspector declared that the work done was as good a job in 
reinforced concrete as he had ever seen. Finally, on March 1, 1910, 
Engstrum r s demand was ordered paid by the City Council, thus ending the 
dispute.

Public interest was again stirred up by the news media as the Station 
neared completion. One Councilman deplored such an extravagant 
expenditure of $60,000 for a fire station when three could have 
been built for the same cost. A month later, two lengthy tongue-in- 
cheek articles appeared detailing the extravagance of the building and 
the exorbitant cost to the taxpayers. The fault, of course, belonged 
to the previous political administration, according to the newspapers. 
On September 30, 1910, just prior to its dedication, the Fire Commission 
went on record deploring the extravagance and denying responsibility for 
it; this, in spite of the fact that the same Commission and the Mayor 
had approved the original plans.

Once the Fire Station was put into operation, the controversy subsided. 
The Station was used for Department Headquarters for the first 10 years,
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with Chief Eley in residence. His successor, Chief Scott, became Chief 
Engineer in 1919 and moved in with his wife, in residence, until 1928. 
The third floor was subsequently used for the Department's Medical 
Liaison Section and Training Section.

In 1960, after 50 years and 60,000 alarms, Fire Station No. 23 was 
officially abandoned as a City fire station. Six years later, the 
City's Cultural Heritage Board declared Fire Station No. 23 a local 
cultural historical monument. No further use was made of the building, 
other than occasional filmings by motion picture companies, until 
June 26, 1979, when the City Council, at the request of the Chief 
Engineer of the Fire Department and the Board of Fire Commissioners, 
proclaimed Old Fire Station No. 23 as the Official Los Angeles City 
Fire Department Museum.

Old Fire Station No. 23 is currently in a remarkable state of preservation, 
especially considering the fact that it has not been used as a fire station 
in 19 years. Much of what can be seen at the Station dates back to 1910, 
including the mahogany doors, paneling, and trim. Missing are such items 
as copper pipes for plumbing and brass doorknobs removed by the destitute 
inhabitants of the "Skid Row" locale. The neighborhood has been earmarked 
by the City for revitalization programs in future years, and the opening 
of a Fire Department Museum would be an integral part of revitalization.

Relatively few alterations have been made to the building. A kitchen 
was put in later on the second floor for the firefighters while the 
third floor has seen conversions from Department Headquarters, to the 
Chief's family residence, to the Medical Liaison Section and Training 
Section. It will not be difficult to reconvert these rooms back to 
their original 1910 condition.

No other fire station in Los Angeles conveys the feeling of the historical 
period of horse-drawn apparatus as does Old Fire Station No. 23. In 1979, 
MS. Rebecca Zurier completed a seven-month tour of the United States, 
funded by the National Endowment for the Humanities. Her assignment 
was to provide photographs and commentary on old fire stations throughout 
the country for inclusion in the archives of the Library of Congress. 
After visiting approximately 250 such fire stations, Ms. Zurier concluded, 
in an interview, that no other fire station in the country could match 
Old Fire Station No. 23 for interior decoration and existing original 
furnishings. This significant statement underscores the uniqueness of
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Old Fire Station No. 23 and its eligibility potential for the National 
Register.

Biographical Note

HUDSON, Frank D., 1868 to 1941. In practice under the name of Hudson and 
Munsell over three decades, prominently in Los Angeles. Studied in the 
office of William Curlett in San Francisco and moved to Los Angeles in 
1895 to set up his own office. Between 1899 and 1901, he was Building 
Inspector for the City under Mayor Eaton. Afterwards, he formed a 
partnership with William A. Munsell which flourished until the early 
1930's. The firm designed several prominent City and County buildings, 
including the old Los Angeles Hall of Records on Broadway, the first 
County Museum building at Exposition Park, the early units of the Los 
Angeles County Hospital, the old Masonic Temple on Pico, and the first 
store of the Southern California Music Company.

7
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